RECEIVED

09-02-2016

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS District I

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

Circuit Court Case No.: 2015-CT-000113

Appeal No.:

2016-AP-000913-CR

MARIE A. MARTIN,

Defendant-Appellant.

BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND DECISION DENYING MOTION TO SUPPRESS ENTERED BY THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR MILWAUKEE COUNTY,

THE HONORABLE T. CHRISTOPHER DEE PRESIDING

BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT MARIE A. MARTIN

Kim & LaVoy, S.C. 2505 North 124th Street, Suite 220 Brookfield, Wisconsin 53005

By: Jonathan A. LaVoy

State Bar Number: 1027608

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant,

Marie A. Martin

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

1. Did the trial court err in denying Ms. Martin's Motion to Suppress by determining that there was reason to believe Ms. Martin was about to commit a traffic offense?

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

In this decision, oral argument is not necessary because the parties' briefs and the record presented will fully develop the issues to be decided by the Court. Oral arguments would be duplications and unnecessary.

In this decision, publication is not warranted because the factual circumstances of this case are not significantly different from that in other published opinions or established case law.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On December 18, 2014, at approximately 2:00 a.m., City of Franklin Police Officer Anne Aide was on patrol in the area of South 76th and Rawson Avenue. (R.27:5, A-Ap. at A5). Officer Aide observed a Honda enter the George Webb parking lot and let two female passengers out of the vehicle. (Id.). Officer Aide observed one of the women get into a sport utility vehicle and drive away, while the other woman, later identified as the Defendant, Marie A. Martin, got into a black Chevy Lumina. (Id.).

Officer Aide decided to run records checks of the vehicles. (R.27:6, A-Ap. at A6). While doing the check, Officer Aide drove around the parking lot to check on a sleeping employee at George Webb's Restaurant. (Id.).

On the way out of the George Webb's parking lot,

Officer Aide specifically ran a check on Ms. Martin's

Lumina. (Id.). While driving, Officer Aide's mobile digital

communicator in her police vehicle indicated that the

vehicle's owner had revoked operating privileges. (R.27:6-7, A-Ap. at A6-7).

After approximately five minutes, and Officer Aide returned to the George Webb's parking lot and "decided to go back and check on [Ms. Martin's] welfare." (R.27:7-8, A-Ap. at A7-8). Officer Aide observed that the vehicle was

running because she saw exhaust coming out of the vehicle's tail pipe. (Id.). Officer Aide confirmed that it is "not uncommon" for vehicles to warm up before driving away due to frost or fog on the windows. (R.27:14-15, A-Ap. at A14-15). However, she believed it was odd that a person would remain in the vehicle without it moving for more than five minutes. (R.27:16, A-Ap. at A16). She did not observe any signs of distress, concern, or emergency about the occupant before making contact with her. (R.27:16-17, A-Ap. at A16-17). She made it clear that her intention was to check on Ms. Martin's welfare, "to see if there was a problem, as she was there for an extended period of time." (R.27:25, A-Ap. at A25).

Officer Aide moved her squad behind the defendant, and parked at an angle to the rear driver's side quarter panel of the Lumina. (R.27:8, A-Ap. at A8). At that time the squad was fully marked, equipped with a light bar, and the officer was in full uniform with Franklin Police markings, with a firearm in her holster. (R.27:18-19, A-Ap. at A18-19).

Officer Aide did not activate her emergency lights, but made contact with Ms. Martin by walking up to her driver's side window. (R.27:9, A-Ap. at A9). As Officer Aide approached the vehicle, Ms. Martin turned the car off

and placed her keys on the passenger seat. (Id.). At some point during the initial encounter, the door was opened, however Officer Aide could not recall if she was the one to open the door or if Ms. Martin opened the door.

(R.27:21&29, A-Ap. at A21 and A29). Officer Aide was also unable to recall if the window was up or down. (R.27:30, A-Ap. at A30). However, once the door was opened, Officer Aide moved within the area of the open door and positioned herself right within a foot or two of Ms. Martin's body. (R.27:31-32, A-Ap. at A31-32).

Officer Aide initially testified that Ms. Martin was free to leave up until the point in time that she smelled an odor of intoxicants on her breath. (R.27:12, A-Ap. at A12). She stated that "I didn't have a reason to detain her, until I observed some signs of intoxication."

(R.27:32, A-Ap. at A32). She stated that Ms. Martin could have chosen to drive away, even though her license was revoked. (R.27:22, A-Ap. at A22). She confirmed that it would not have been illegal for Ms. Martin to operate a car in the parking lot with a revoked license, but it would have been illegal for her to drive on a road. (Id.).

Officer Aide also testified that had Ms. Martin tried to walk away, she would have followed her and asked her

questions, but did not believe she had a reason to detain her. (R.27:31-32, A-Ap. at A31-32).

The State argued that this was a "community caretaker" stop and was "a welfare check." (R.27:33, A-Ap. at A33).

Then, the State argued the contradictory position that there was no stop. (R.27:40-41, A-Ap. at A40-41). Ms.

Martin argued that there was no reasonable suspicion for a seizure due to the nature of the confrontation with Ms.

Martin. (R.27:35-36, A-Ap. at A35-36). Ms. Martin also argued that when Officer Aide positioned herself inside the doorway of the vehicle, Ms. Martin was not free to leave because no reasonable person would have felt free to walk or drive away at that point. (Id.). Ms. Martin further argued that there was no justification for a "community caretaker" stop because the record was devoid of any information showing that there was a need to actually do a welfare check on Ms. Martin. (R.27:37-39, A-Ap. at A37-39).

After letter briefing (R:12 & 13), the Court rejected the State's contention that this was a welfare check or community caretaker function case. (R.28:2-3, A-Ap. at A47-48). The Court further concluded that Officer Aide had certainly stopped Ms. Martin, stating "her approach to Ms. Martin, it's a stop; it is." (R.28:3, A-Ap. at A48). The Court agreed that a person cannot commit the offense of

Operating After Revocation in a parking lot. (R.28:4, A-Ap. at A49). The Court then determined that, Officer Aide had reasonable suspicion to believe that Ms. Martin was about to commit an offense and indicated "I think the officer could reasonably expect that this registered owner of the car was driving at the time and was revoked and would be driving on the city streets in a short - - in short order."(R.28:5, A-Ap. at A50). The Court indicated that the stop was justified under Terry v. Ohio. (R.28:6, A-Ap. at A51). The Defendant now appeals this ruling.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

When the Appellate Court reviews a trial court's decision to deny a motion to suppress evidence, the Court accepts the circuit court's findings of fact unless they are clearly erroneous, and determines the application of constitutional principles to those facts independently of the circuit court, but benefitting from their analysis.

State v. Popenhagen, 2008 WI 55, ¶ 31, 309 Wis. 2d 601, 749 N.W.2d 611.

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ITS DECISION THAT THERE WAS REASONABLE SUSPICION TO SEIZE THE DEFENDANT.

A. Introduction.

The trial court erred in determining that Officer Aide was justified in seizing Ms. Martin for a potential traffic violation. The record is devoid of any proper justification for a belief that Ms. Martin was about to commit any kind of traffic offense, specifically Operating After Revocation or Operating While Intoxicated.

B. Standard of Review.

The stop of a vehicle must be based on more than an officer's "inchoate and unparticularized suspicion or hunch," but instead must be grounded upon "specific and articulable facts which, taken together with rational inferences from those facts, reasonably warrant the intrusion of the stop." State v. Post, 301 Wis. 2d 1, 8, 733 N.W. 2d 634 (2007); Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 22, 88 S. Ct. 1868 (1968). Reasonable suspicion exists under the totality of the circumstances if "the facts of the case would warrant a reasonable police officer, in light of his or her training and experience, to suspect that the individual has committed, was committing, or is about to commit a crime." Post, 301 Wis. 2d at 9. An investigatory

stop may be made when an officer observes wholly lawful conduct, "so long as the reasonable inferences drawn from the lawful conduct are that criminal activity is afoot."

State v. Waldner, 206 Wis. 2d 51, 57, 556 N.W. 2d 681

(1996).

C. The Trial Court Erred in Denying the Defendant's Motion to Suppress Evidence.

The Circuit Court correctly determined that Ms. Martin was seized by Officer Aide but erred in finding that it was reasonable to believe that Ms. Martin was about to commit a Even the officer herself testified consistently that she was not investigating an Operating After Revocation matter and that her sole function was to check Ms. Martin's welfare. The Court's determination that Officer Aide could have reasonably expected that Ms. Martin would have been driving on city streets in a short order is not supported by the record. The record is devoid of any indication that Ms. Martin was about to be driving her vehicle on city streets. Officer Aide testified that another vehicle left the scene, and Ms. Martin's stayed for a longer period of time. (R.27:5, A-Ap. at A5). Officer Aide testified that she found it odd that a vehicle was still warming up for that amount of time and had not yet left the parking lot. (R.27:17, A-Ap. at A17).

supports the opposite of the Circuit Court's conclusion.

Ms. Martin was simply trying to keep warm in her vehicle
while waiting for a ride. The fact that the vehicle did not
leave as the other did, supports that fact that Ms. Martin
was not about to commit a crime. Officer Aide testified
that she was not investigating any concern that Ms. Martin
was operating a vehicle after revocation or that she was
about to drive the vehicle but rather she was "checking on
her welfare, to see if there was a problem" (R.27:7-8, AAp. at A7-8). According to Officer Aide, the fact that Ms.
Martin's license was revoked had "no bearing" on the reason
she approached Ms. Martin. (R.27:25, A-Ap. at A25). In
fact, the State chose not to even argue that Ms. Martin was
about to commit a crime, presumably because the record did
not support such an argument.

Officer Aide testified that she "didn't have a reason to detain her until I observed some signs of intoxication".

(R.27:32, A-Ap. at A32). She did not observe any indicia of intoxication or signs that she was preparing to drive away. She also knew that Ms. Martin sitting in a running vehicle, even though her license was revoked, did not violate the law. (R.27:22, A-Ap. at A22). Those facts, coupled with the Court's determination that there was, in fact, a seizure at the point of contact, shows that there

was not reasonable suspicion to believe that Ms. Martin was committing, or was about to commit, any offense. The Court fashioned a ruling that Officer Aide reasonable could have found that a crime was about to be committed even though the Officer testified and the State argued that the sole basis for the stop is welfare and not investigation of a potential driving offense. On the record before this Court, there is not a sufficient basis to show reasonable suspicion for a seizure.

As a result of the Circuit Court's erroneous application of the law to the facts in this case, the Court erred in denying Ms. Martin's Motion to Suppress.

CONCLUSION

Accordingly, based on the arguments above, case precedent, and the record before this Court, Ms. Martin respectfully requests that this Court reverse the findings of the Circuit Court and find that the trial court erroneously exercised its discretion in denying the defendant's Motion to Suppress Evidence. As a result, this Court should reverse the decision of the Circuit Court to deny the Defendant's Motion to Suppress and remand to the Circuit Court consistent with this Court's Order, granting Ms. Martin's Motion to Suppress.