RECEIVED

10-27-2016

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT I

Appeal Case No. 2016AP000913-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

vs.

MARIE A. MARTIN,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND DECISION DENYING MOTION TO SUPPRESS ENTERED IN THE MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE T. CHRISTOPHER DEE, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

John Chisholm District Attorney Milwaukee County

Brittany Skye Kachingwe Assistant District Attorney State Bar No. 1096649 Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

District Attorney's Office 821 West State Street, Room 405 Milwaukee, WI 53233-1485 (414) 278-4646

ISSUE PRESENTED

1. Did the circuit court properly deny Ms. Martin's motion to suppress evidence?

Answer: Yes

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The State of Wisconsin does not believe oral argument is required in this case as the briefs fully present and meet the issues on appeal and fully develop the theories and legal authorities on each side, so that oral argument would be of such marginal value that it does not justify the additional expenditure of court time or cost to the litigant. Wis. Stat. § 809.22(3).

Because this case is an appeal from a misdemeanor, and therefore, subject to a one judge review pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 752.31(2) & (3), this opinion is not eligible for publication. Wis. Stat. § 809.23(1)(b)4.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On Thursday, December 18, 2014, at approximately 2:00 a.m., City of Franklin Police Officer Anne Aide was on duty and located at South 76th Street and West Rawson Avenue in the city of Franklin, County of Milwaukee. (R27:5). Officer Aide was looking southbound, looking towards the parking lot of the George Webb's Restaurant. *Id*.

Officer Aide initially observed a Honda two door stop in the George Webb's parking lot and let out two female passengers. *Id.* One of the female passengers entered an SUV and left the scene. *Id.* The other female passenger, later identified as Ms. Martin, entered a black Chevy Lumina. *Id.*

Officer Aide did a records check on both the Honda and Chevy. (R27:6). As Officer Aide was exiting the parking lot, she ran Ms. Martin's vehicle through DOT records. *Id.* As Officer Aide was traveling eastbound, she received notice that Ms. Martin's vehicle registration was coming back suspended. (R27:6-7).

Officer Aide pulled over about a block away. (R27:7). Officer Aide was able to identify that that the registration was listed to Ms. Martin and that Ms. Martin's operating privileges were actually revoked, and that she had an occupational

license, but was outside of her occupational license restrictions. *Id.*

Officer Aide could see that Ms. Martin was still parked in the George Webb parking lot and the headlights were on. *Id.* After about five minutes, Officer Aide went back to the George Webb's parking lot. *Id.* Officer Aide thought it was odd that Ms. Martin was still in her car after the other vehicles had warmed up and left, so she decided to go back and check on Ms. Martin's welfare. (R27:8) Officer Aide was able to tell that Ms. Martin's car was running because there was smoke coming out of the exhaust. *Id.*

Officer Aide then pulled her squad car not directly behind Ms. Martin, but at an angle to Ms. Martin's rear driver's side quarter panel. *Id.* Officer Aide's lights were not activated and there were no emergency equipment activated. *Id.*

As Officer Aide began to approach the vehicle she was able to hear the vehicle turn off. (R27:9). Officer Aide could not recall if she knocked on the window or if the window was already rolled down, but she was able to make contact with Ms. Martin (R27:21). Officer Aide stated that her purpose for making contact with Ms. Martin was to check on her welfare. (R27:7-8). After noticing an odor of intoxication emanating from Ms. Martin, Officer Aide asked Ms. Martin to complete field sobriety tests. (R27:10-11) Ms. Martin was subsequently arrested and charged with Operating a Motor Vehicle While Intoxicated -4^{th} Offense. (R1:1-3).

At the motion hearing on October 6, 2015, the State originally argued that Officer Aide's encounter was not in fact a Terry stop, but rather a welfare check under the community care taker exception. (R27:33-34). Ms. Martin, through her attorney, argued that Officer Aide did conduct a Terry stop and that there was no reasonable suspicion to conduct this stop. (R27:35-39).

After re-briefing the issues (R12, R13), the court held that the community caretaker function did not exist in this case and there was a stop. (R28:3-4). The court also held that the stop was justified under *Terry v. Ohio*, 392 U.S. 1, because Officer Aide could have reasonably believed that the registered

owner of the vehicle was revoked and would be driving on the city streets in "short order." (R28:5).

In making its ruling, the court noted that the officer knew that the registered own of the vehicle was revoked and there was nowhere else to go from the parking lot other than 76th Street or Rawson, thus she was about to commit the crime of Operating while Revoked. *Id.*

STANDARD OF REVIEW

"Whether evidence should be suppressed is a question of constitutional fact." *State v. Knapp*, 2005 WI 127, ¶ 19, 285 Wis. 2d 86, 700 N.W.2d 899. A finding of constitutional fact consists of the circuit court's findings of historical fact, and its application of those historical facts to constitutional principles. See *State v. Turner*, 136 Wis. 2d 333, 343-44, 401 N.W.2d 827 (1987). This court reviews the former under the clearly erroneous standard, and the latter, de novo. See *Id*.

ARGUMENT

1. THERE ARE SUFFICIENT OBJECTIVE FACTS OBSERVED BY OFFICER AIDE TO SUPPORT REASONABLE SUSPICION THAT MS. MARTIN WAS ABOUT TO COMMIT A CRIME

Ms. Martin argues that "the record is devoid of any indication that [she] was about to be driving her vehicle on city streets." (Def. Brief, pg. 2). Ms. Martin attempts to support this argument by highlighting Officer Aide's subjective reasoning for stopping her. The crux of Ms. Martin's argument is an emphasis on the fact that Officer Aide testified that "she was not investigating any concern that Ms. Martin was operating a vehicle after revocation or that she was about to drive the vehicle but rather she was 'checking on her welfare, to see if there was a problem." (Def. Brief, pg. 3)

The actual motivations of a police officer bears no weight on the constitutional reasonableness of traffic stops. *United States v. Smith*, 668 F.3d 427, 430 (7th Cir. 2012). The

lawfulness of a vehicle stop depends on the objective facts observed by an officer, not the officer's subjective intent. *State v. Baudhuin*, 141 Wis. 2d 642, 650–51, 416 N.W.2d 60 (1987); *see also, State v. Sykes*, 2005 WI 48, ¶ 29, 279 Wis. 2d 742, 759, 695 N.W.2d 277, 286.

In *State v. Baudhuin*, a police officer testified that he observed the defendant traveling at 17mph in a 25mph zone for several blocks. 141 Wis.2d 642, 645, 416 N.W.2d 60, 61 (1987). Although the officer was able to articulate the traffic violation, he also stated that he did not anticipate issuing a traffic violation but just wanted to see if the defendant needed assistance and if there was anything wrong. *Id.* at 646, 416 N.W.2d at 61. The court held that an

officer's subjective intent does not alone render a search or seizure of an automobile or its occupants illegal, as long as there were objective facts that would have supported a correct legal theory to be applied and as long as there existed articulable facts fitting the traffic law violation.

Id. at 651, 416 N.W.2d at 63.

Here, just because Officer Aide's subjective intent was to check on the welfare of Ms. Martin does not alone render the stop illegal. As the circuit court elaborated in its decision, the objective facts observed by Officer Aide support the conclusion that a reasonable officer could have believed that Ms. Martin was about to commit the offense of Operating After Revocation.

Officer Aide knew that Ms. Martin's license was revoked and that she was outside of her occupational license timeframe. (R27:7). Officer Aide had seen two other cars that Ms. Martin had been associated with drive away. (R27:5). It was 2:00 a.m. and Ms. Martin's car was running in the George Webb's parking lot. *Id.* There was nowhere else for Ms. Martin to go from the parking lot but out on a major street. Although Officer Aide's subjective intent was to simply check on Ms. Martin's welfare, there is sufficient articulated objective facts to support the conclusion that a reasonable officer could have believed Ms. Martin was about to commit the offense of Operating After Revocation.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the State respectfully asks this court to uphold the decision of the circuit court denying Ms. Martin's motion to suppress evidence.